
City Council 
6:00 p.m., Tuesday, June 24, 2025 

City Hall  
Council Chambers 

1207 Palm Boulevard, Isle of Palms, SC 

Public Comment:  
All citizens who wish to speak during the meeting must email their first and last name, 
address, and topic to Nicole DeNeane at nicoled@iop.net no later than 3:00 p.m. the 
business day before the meeting. Citizens may also provide public comment here: 

https://www.iop.net/public-comment-form 

Agenda  

1. Call to Order and acknowledgement that the press and public were duly notified of
the meeting in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act.

a. Invocation b. Pledge of Allegiance c. Roll Call

2. Public Hearing - Ordinance 2025-06- prohibit pools seaward of the maximum 
building line [p3-5]

3. Citizens’ Comments – Citizens must state their name and address. All comments 
will have a time limit of three (3) minutes.

4. Approval of previous meetings’ minutes
a. City Council Meeting – May 27, 2025 [p6-13]
b. Public Hearing FY26 – May 27, 2025 [p14-25]
c. Special City Council Workshop- June 10, 2025 [p26-68]
d. Citizens’ Comments [p69-70]
e. Committee Meetings [p71-76]

5. Old Business

6. New Business
a. Consideration of City Hall modifications- $16,918, Beach Construction [p77-78]
b. Consideration of engaging Stantec to document traffic on July 5th – not to 

exceed $8,500

7. Boards and Commissions Report
a. Board of Zoning Appeals – minutes attached [p79-80]
b. Planning Commission – minutes attached [p81-82]
c. Accommodations Tax Advisory Committee – no meeting in June
d. Environmental Advisory Committee – minutes attached [p83-88]

8. Ordinances, Resolutions and Petitions
a. Second Reading

i. Ordinance 2025-05- an ordinance to amend the revocation trigger from a



calendar year to a 365-day rolling period and stipulate that two garbage can 
violations are equivalent to one founded complaint for revocation purposes 
[p89-90] 

ii. Ordinance 2025-06- prohibit pools seaward of the maximum building line
[p91-93]

b. Resolution 2025-03- to increase building permit fees [p94-96]

9. Miscellaneous

10. Adjournment



Ordinance for Second Reading – June 24, 2025 

ORDINANCE 2025-06 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND TITLE 5, PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT, 
CHAPTER 4 ZONING, ARTICLE 2, SECTION 5-4-51(3) P2 PRESERVATION 

OVERLAY ZONE ADDITIONAL REGULATIONS OF THE CITY OF ISLE OF PALMS 
CODE OF ORDINANCES TO PROHIBIT POOLS SEAWARD OF THE MAXIMUM 

BUILDING LINE AND RENAME OCRM TO BCM. 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Councilmembers of the City of Isle of Palms, 
South Carolina, in City Council Assembled: 

SECTION 1. That Section 5-4-51(3) of the Isle of Palms Code of Ordinances titled “P2 
preservation overlay zone.” is hereby amended to specifically read as follows: 

Sec. 5-4-51. P-2 preservation overlay zone. 

(1) Purposes. The purposes of the P-2 preservation overlay zone are:

a. To preserve natural barriers against the natural forces from the Ocean.

b. To preserve adequate light, air and open space.

c. To protect and preserve scenic, historic and ecologically sensitive areas.

(2) Permitted uses.

a. This is an overlay zone. Permitted uses are determined by the underlying or
primary zoning district applicable to each lot located within the P-2 preservation overlay
zone.

b. Beach renourishment.

(3) Additional regulations. Within the P-2 preservation overlay zone, the following
additional regulations shall apply:

a. Except as expressly allowed in subsection (3)b and c of this section, no structure
shall extend seaward of the maximum building line shown and labeled as such on that
certain plat prepared by E.M. Seabrook, Jr., C.E. and L.S., dated January 8, 1988, and
entitled "FINAL PLAT, CITY OF ISLE OF PALMS, CHARLESTON COUNTY, S.C."
and duly recorded at the County RMC Office on February 16, 1988, in Plat Book BQ, at
Page 11; said plat is incorporated herein and made a part hereof by reference thereto.

b. One dune walkover per lot shall be allowed, so long as it complies with all
applicable provisions of this Code and BCM (Bureau of Coastal Management)
regulations.

3



Ordinance for Second Reading – June 24, 2025 

SECTION 2. Should any part of this Ordinance be held invalid by a Court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remaining parts shall be severable therefrom and shall continue to be in full 
force and effect. 

SECTION 3. That all ordinances or parts of ordinances conflicting with the provisions 
of this Ordinance are hereby repealed insofar as the same affect this Ordinance. 

SECTION 4. That this Ordinance take effect immediately upon approval by City Council. 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE ISLE OF PALMS ON THE 
______ DAY OF ___________________, 2025.  

_____________________________________ 
Phillip Pounds, Mayor 

(Seal) 
Attest: _________________________________ 
Nicole DeNeane, City Clerk 

4



   Created: 2025‐05‐02 09:16:41 [EST]

(Supp. No. 26) 

Page 1 of 1 

Sec. 5-4-51. P-2 preservation overlay zone. 

(1) Purposes. The purposes of the P-2 preservation overlay zone are:

a. To preserve natural barriers against the natural forces from the Ocean.

b. To preserve adequate light, air and open space.

c. To protect and preserve scenic, historic and ecologically sensitive areas.

(2) Permitted uses.

a. This is an overlay zone. Permitted uses are determined by the underlying or primary zoning district
applicable to each lot located within the P-2 preservation overlay zone.

b. Beach renourishment.

(3) Additional regulations. Within the P-2 preservation overlay zone, the following additional regulations shall
apply:

a. Except as expressly allowed in subsection (3)b and c of this section, no structure shall extend seaward
of the maximum building line shown and labeled as such on that certain plat prepared by E.M.
Seabrook, Jr., C.E. and L.S., dated January 8, 1988, and entitled "FINAL PLAT, CITY OF ISLE OF PALMS,
CHARLESTON COUNTY, S.C." and duly recorded at the County RMC Office on February 16, 1988, in Plat
Book BQ, at Page 11; said plat is incorporated herein and made a part hereof by reference thereto.

b. One dune walkover per lot shall be allowed, so long as it complies with all applicable provisions of this
Code and OCRM BCM regulations.

c. One swimming pool per lot shall be allowed, so long as it complies with the applicable provisions of this
Code and OCRM regulations.

(Ord. No. 2015-15, § 1, 2-23-2016) 

5



City Council 
6:00 p.m., Tuesday, May 27, 2025 

City Hall Council Chambers 
1207 Palm Boulevard, Isle of Palms, SC 

MINUTES  

1. Call to Order

Present: Council members Bogosian, Streetman, Anderson (via Zoom), Ward, 
Hahn, Miars, Pierce, and Carroll, Mayor Pounds 

Staff Present: Administrator Kerr, City Attorney McQuillin, various department heads 

2. Citizens’ Comments

Sondra Hines, 624 Carolina Boulevard, presented a list of resident supporters for the Plant-a-
Palm 2.0 program aimed at planting palm trees in the front beach parking lot. A more
detailed plan will be presented at committee meetings. Fall installation is planned. They are
asking for the City’s approval for the project and then for the City to continue to irrigate and
maintain the trees. Multiple audience members stood in support of the proposed project.

Sara Vega, 104 Sparrow Drive, thanked the IOP Police Department for active participation in
Operation Safe Stop. She explained how the program is aimed at increasing awareness of
driver responsibility regarding school buses.

Susan Smith, 20 23rd Avenue, said she is supportive of the Plant-a-Palm program. She
suggested the planting of other native trees around the island. She thanked Council for the
inclusion of a resiliency staff position in the FY26 budget and hopes Council can be flexible
with the salary. She also thanked them for their resolution to decrease the afternoon parking
rates in the City lots.

Zacharry Lary, IOP Chamber of Commerce, said he would like to withdraw the Chamber’s
request for ATAX funds. He said the award amount will not be effective in helping them
with their plans and would like the opportunity to rethink the plans.

3. Approval of previous meetings’ minutes
A. City Council Meeting – April 22, 2025
B. Special City Council Meeting Workshop – May 13, 2025

MOTION: Council Member Streetman made a motion to approve, and Council Member 
Hahn seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

4. Old Business – none

5. New Business
6



City Council, 5/27/2025 

A. Consideration of Tide valve purchase - $67,845.34 + $11,800 installation Truluck –
FY25 Budget, Capital Projects Fund, $1.03M

MOTION:     Council Member Pierce made a motion to approve, and Council Member 
Streetman seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

B. Consideration of purchase of Office 365 Migration, $34,019.40 one-time, $2,564
recurring monthly – VC3, FY25 Budget, General Fund, $30,000

MOTION:     Council Member Hahn made a motion to approve, and Council Member 
Bogosian seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.  

Administrator Kerr said the $2600 monthly fee is replacing a slightly higher monthly fee. He 
also shared that Council Member Pierce is working with VC3 to make sure older emails are 
preserved through the migration. 

C. Mutual Aid Agreement with North Charleston Police Department

MOTION:     Council Member Pierce made a motion to approve. Council Member 
Miars seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

Administrator Kerr said this agreement will replace the existing agreement. 

D. Approval of ATAX Sponsorships
i. YWCA Martin Luther King, Jr. Event - $5,000

MOTION:  Council Member Pierce made a motion to approve, and Council
Member Miars seconded the motion.

MOTION: Council Member Streetman made a motion to amend the award to
$10,000. Council Member Anderson seconded the motion.

When asked why the award was only $5,000, Administrator Kerr said the ATAX 
Committee did not feel the event generated the “heads in beds” needed for such an 
award after its third year. Council Member Pierce suggested awarding $5,000 and ask 
the ATAX Committee for additional feedback on their reasoning. Council Member 
Anderson said the YWCA is actively working to increase the number of people who stay 
overnight on the island following the event. 

VOTE: A vote was taken on the amended award amount as follows: 

Ayes: Streetman, Anderson 
Nays: Carroll, Miars, Pierce, Bogosian, Ward, Hahn, Pounds 

The motion failed. 

VOTE: A vote was taken on the original motion with all in favor. 

Administrator Kerr said the ATAX Committee plans to work with the YWCA to increase 
their “heads in bed” ratio for the next event. 

ii. IOP Chamber of Commerce - $15,000 (withdrawn from consideration per the
7



City Council, 5/27/2025 

request of the applicant) 

iii. Mary Alice Monroe Authors’ Event - $35,000

MOTION: Council Member Pierce made a motion to approve. Council Member 
Bogosian seconded the motion.  

Council Member Ward asked for confirmation that the check given for this event is made 
out to the 501(c)(3). 

VOTE: A vote was taken with all in favor. 

E. Consideration of LENS request for signage at island entrance

Administrator Kerr said LENS is open to discussing other locations for their signage. The
issue will go back to the Committee for further development.

6. Boards and Commissions Report

A. Board of Zoning Appeals – minutes attached
B. Planning Commission – minutes attached
C. Accommodations Tax Advisory Committee – minutes attached
D. Environmental Advisory Committee – minutes attached

7. Ordinances, Resolutions, Proclamations, and Petitions

A. Second Reading

i. Ordinance 2025-03 – an ordinance to adopt a budget for Fiscal Year beginning July 1,
2025 and ending June 30, 2026

MOTION: Council Member Ward made a motion to approve, and Council Member 
Streetman seconded the motion.  

Mayor Pounds noted that this budget does not include a tax increase, pays off the debt of Fire 
Station 2, and increases cash reserves. 

Council Member Pierce’s comments regarding the budget are attached to these minutes. 

VOTE: A vote was taken as follows: 

Ayes: Carroll, Miars, Bogosian, Ward, Hahn, Streetman, Anderson, Pounds 
Nays: Pierce 

The motion passed 8-1. 

ii. Ordinance 2025-04 – an ordinance to adopt business license fees

MOTION: Council Member Bogosian made a motion to approve. Council Member 
Miars seconded the motion. A vote was taken as follows: 

8



City Council, 5/27/2025 

Ayes: Carroll, Miars, Bogosian, Pierce, Hahn, Streetman, Anderson, Pounds 
Nays: Ward 

The motion passed 8-1. 

B. First Reading

i. Ordinance 2025-05- an ordinance to amend the revocation trigger from a calendar year
to a 365-day rolling period and stipulate that two garbage can violations are equivalent to
one founded complaint for revocation purposes

MOTION: Council Member Bogosian made a motion to approve. Council Member 
Pierce seconded the motion. A vote was taken as follows: 

Ayes: Miars, Pierce, Bogosian, Hahn, Streetman, Anderson, Pounds 
Nays: Carroll, Ward 

The motion passed 7-2. 

ii. Ordinance 2025-06 – an ordinance prohibiting pools seaward of the maximum
building line

MOTION: Council Member Miars made a motion to approve. Council Member Hahn 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

C. Resolution 2025-02 – creating hourly afternoon parking rates and seasonal parking
passes

MOTION: Council Member Pierce made a motion to approve and waive the reading. 
Council Member Bogosian seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

9. Executive Session

MOTION: Council Member Ward made a motion to go into Executive Session in 
accordance with Section 30-4-70(a)(2) to receive legal advice regarding Quality 
Enterprises, Inc v. City of Isle of Palms complaint. Council Member Hahn seconded the 
motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

City Council entered into Executive Session at 6:35pm. 

City Council returned from Executive Session at 6:53pm. Mayor Pounds said no decisions were 
made. 

MOTION: Council Member Hahn made a motion “that our City Attorney proceed in 
accordance with the discussions we had in Executive Session in the litigation of Quality 
Enterprises versus. IOP.” Council Member Ward seconded the motion. The motion passed 
unanimously. 

10. Miscellaneous

11. Adjournment

Council Member Ward made a motion to adjourn, and Council Member Streetman seconded the 
motion. The meeting was adjourned at 6:53pm. 

9



City Council, 5/27/2025 

Respectfully submitted, 

Nicole DeNeane 
City Clerk  

10



City Council, 5/27/2025 

Council Member Pierce’s Comments related to the FY26 budget: 

Thank you, Debra, Douglas, and staff for your work on the budget. 

In recent years, the Isle of Palms has benefited from a post-COVID surge in tourism-driven 
revenues—fueled by the rise in short-term rental units, increasing rental rates, inflation-related 
interest income, and a local building and hospitality boom. Like many governments that receive 
windfalls, the city has been increasing operating expense growth rates at a pace exceeding 
projected revenue growth.  

IOP reported over $51 million in cash accounts, and our auditors have commended the city’s 
operating expense coverage. All positive—but it’s one side of the ledger and based on a snapshot 
in time.  Most of the cash is already committed to projects, or restricted, with over $20M for the 
FY2027 beach nourishment project. 

Some recent trends and this year’s budget: 

• Payroll and benefit-related expenses have grown 48% in just four years from $8.3M
(55%) of the General Fund revenue to $12.1M (74%) this year. In another 4 years, these
costs consume 84% of General Fund revenue. This trajectory is unsustainable.

• While we acknowledged the need to better align revenue with operating cost growth, like
when we added the unbudgeted paramedic team a couple years ago —actions have
lagged. This year’s revenue budget does include two overdue market-based increases in
parking rates and business license fees, plus $4.8M in one-time grants.

• IOP’s share of the next major beach nourishment project is estimated at over $20M of the
nearly $30M total project cost. Costs are twice the 2018 nourishment project and IOP’s
contribution has increased tenfold from prior contributions. Historically, IOP paid ~16%
of the cost, with State, FEMA, and private entities covering the rest. This time, nearly all
costs will fall to us. The State allocated only $1.5M in the current budget for all South
Carolina beach nourishment. To fund this project, IOP will deplete the $10M Beach Fund
and require the remaining millions of dollars from the ATAX, Hospitality and other
funds. We’ll get through the upcoming project, but unlike other municipalities, we have
not acted upon securing sustainable funding sources for the next, more costly 8-year
nourishment cycle.

As a consequence, and as reflected in future year projections, there is limited investment in 
infrastructure, beach management and resilience projects.   

We also have structural deficiencies in the budgeting process. Despite last year’s brief 
discussion to reconstitute the Ways & Means Committee and modernize budgeting tools, neither 
has occurred. Our staff still relies on decade-old spreadsheets with hard-coded values, manual 
entry, and no integrated planning tools. This is a clear risk. 

For example, $4.4M in manual entry errors impacting fund balances—a mistake I found in a 
cursory review—should be a wake-up call. Several more errors were discovered during the 
budget preparation. Staff shouldn’t be making critical calculations without adequate planning 
tools. There’s little to no integration between payroll models, the 10-year capital plan, or the 
budget files themselves, which creates opportunity for inconsistencies and increases the risk of 
compounding errors. Basic AI tools reviewing our files immediately flags pervasive logic errors 

11



City Council, 5/27/2025 

and recommend restructuring. If we don’t modernize, we are setting up both staff and future 
councils for failure. 

Recommendations to consider: 

• Reinstate the Ways & Means Committee to enhance financial oversight and planning.
• Provide staff with modernized, integrated budgeting and planning tools.
• Aggressively pursue sustainable revenue sources for long-term beach management, and

new resilience projects— as peer communities have done.

While I’m confident IOP will make it through another funding year, I cannot support a budget 
that continues the trend of increasing financial risk and missed opportunities. Without action, 
future councils will inherit uncertainty and constrained options to address the long-term financial 
needs of the community. 

12



13



PUBLIC HEARING 
5:30pm, Tuesday, May 27, 2027 

1207 Palm Boulevard, Isle of Palms, SC and  
broadcasted live on YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/user/cityofisleofpalms 

MINUTES 

1. Call to Order

Present: Council members Bogosian, Streetman, Anderson (via Zoom), Ward, 
Hahn, Miars, Pierce, and Carroll, Mayor Pounds 

Staff Present: Administrator Kerr, City Attorney McQuillin, various department heads 

2. Ordinance 2025 – 03 – An ordinance to raise revenue and adopt a budget for the City of
Isle of Palms, South Carolina for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2025, and ending June
30, 2026

Director Hamilton reviewed the highlights of the proposed FY26 budget. Her presentation is 
attached to these minutes. There will be no property tax increase and on new debt in FY26. 

3. Adjournment

Council Member Ward made a motion to adjourn, and Council Member Streetman seconded the 
motion. The meeting was adjourned at 5:41pm. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Nicole DeNeane 
City Clerk 

14



C
it

y
 o

f 
Is

le
 o

f 
P
a
lm

s

P
ro

p
o
se

d
 A

n
n
u
a
l 
B
u
d
g
e
t 

fo
r 

F
is

c
a
l 
Y
e
a
r 

2
0
2
6

15



F
Y

2
6
 B

U
D

G
E
T
 S

U
M

M
A

R
Y
 B

Y
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E
, 

E
X
P
E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
S
 A

N
D

 F
U

N
D

 B
A

L
A

N
C

E
/N

E
T
 P

O
S
IT

IO
N

Fu
n

d
R

e
ve

n
u

e
s 

Tr
an

sf
e

rs
 In

Ex
p

e
n

d
it

u
re

s
Tr

an
sf

e
rs

 O
u

t
Fu

n
d

 B
al

an
ce

/N
e

t 
P

o
si

ti
o

n
 

G
EN

ER
A

L 
FU

N
D

1
6

,4
8

9
,8

1
1

 
2

,6
6

6
,0

5
9

 
1

7
,0

8
5

,9
8

4
 

2
,0

6
9

,8
8

7
 

6
,0

1
1

,0
8

7
 

C
A

P
IT

A
L 

P
R

O
JE

C
T 

FU
N

D
3

,7
8

0
,2

9
0

 
2

,0
6

9
,8

8
7

 
4

,5
0

8
,5

8
6

 
1

4
,6

7
7

,3
0

5
 

TO
U

R
IS

M
 F

U
N

D
S

7
,5

9
9

,9
5

3
 

4
,8

8
7

,1
8

7
 

3
,1

6
5

,9
2

3
 

1
1

,8
7

0
,1

8
6

 

B
EA

C
H

 F
U

N
D

1
,9

6
8

,2
3

2
 

9
3

0
,0

0
0

 
1

1
,4

5
2

,9
8

8
 

D
IS

A
ST

ER
 R

EC
O

V
ER

Y 
FU

N
D

1
0

5
,0

5
3

 
1

3
,0

0
0

 
3

,5
8

3
,7

1
9

 

A
LL

 O
TH

ER
 F

U
N

D
S

3
1

8
,5

7
0

 
3

,0
0

0
 

3
6

6
,3

9
3

 
3

,0
0

0
 

1
3

1
,5

5
3

 

M
A

R
IN

A
 E

N
TE

R
P

R
IS

E 
FU

N
D

 *
2

,4
3

4
,7

2
4

 
4

9
9

,8
6

4
 

2
,3

5
0

,5
7

2
 

8
,9

1
1

,4
0

7
 

TO
TA

L
3

2
,6

9
6

,6
3

2
 

5
,2

3
8

,8
1

0
 

3
0

,1
4

1
,7

2
2

 
5

,2
3

8
,8

1
0

 
5

6
,6

3
8

,2
4

4
 

*T
h

e
M

a
ri

n
a
 F

u
n

d
's

 n
e
t 

p
o

si
ti

o
n

re
p

re
se

n
ts

 t
h

e
 o

v
e
ra

ll
 f

in
a
n

ci
a
l 
h

e
a
lt

h
 o

f 
th

e
 C

it
y
 o

f 
Is

le
 o

f 
P
a
lm

s'
 m

a
ri

n
a
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o

n
s.

 U
n

li
k
e
 o

th
e
r 

g
o

v
e
rn

m
e
n

ta
l 
fu

n
d

s 
th

a
t

re
p

o
rt

 a
fu

n
d

 b
a
la

n
ce

, 
th

e
 M

a
ri

n
a
 F

u
n

d
 i
s 

a
n

e
n

te
rp

ri
se

 f
u

n
d

, 
w

h
ic

h
 f

o
ll
o

w
s

a
cc

ru
a
l 
a
cc

o
u

n
ti

n
g

a
n

d
 r

e
p

o
rt

s 
a

n
e
t 

p
o

si
ti

o
n

in
st

e
a
d

.

16



F
Y

2
6
 B

U
D

G
E
T
 S

U
M

M
A

R
Y
 B

Y
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E
, 

E
X
P
E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
S
, 

T
R

A
N

S
F
E
R

S
 A

N
D

 F
U

N
D

 B
A

L
A

N
C

E
/N

E
T
 P

O
S
IT

IO
N

 -

 2
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

 4
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

 6
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

 8
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

 1
0
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

 1
2
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

 1
4
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

 1
6
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

 1
8
,0

0
0
,0

0
0

G
E
N

E
R
A
L
 F

U
N

D
C
A
P
IT

A
L
 P

R
O

J
E
C
T
 F

U
N

D
T
O

U
R
IS

M
 F

U
N

D
S

B
E
A
C
H

 F
U

N
D

D
IS

A
S
T
E
R
 R

E
C
O

V
E
R
Y
 F

U
N

D
A
L
L
 O

T
H

E
R
 F

U
N

D
S

M
A
R
IN

A
 E

N
T
E
R
P
R
IS

E
 F

U
N

D
*

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
s

E
x
p
e
n
d
it

u
re

s
F
u
n
d
 B

a
la

n
c
e
/
N

e
t 

P
o
si

ti
o
n

T
ra

n
sf

e
rs

 I
n

T
ra

n
sf

e
rs

 O
u
t

17



F
Y

2
6
 B

u
d
g
e
t 

S
u
m

m
a
ry

 H
ig

h
li
g
h
ts

Th
e 

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 F
Y 

2
0

2
6

 B
u

d
ge

t 
ai

m
s 

to
 e

n
h

an
ce

 t
h

e 
is

la
n

d
’s

 in
it

ia
ti

ve
s 

to
 b

ec
o

m
e 

So
u

th
 C

ar
o

lin
a’

s 
sa

fe
st

, m
o

st
 s

u
st

ai
n

ab
le

 a
n

d
 f

am
ily

-

fr
ie

n
d

ly
 b

ea
ch

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y.

❖
To

ta
l r

ev
en

u
es

 w
er

e 
p

ro
je

ct
ed

 a
t 

$
3

2
,6

9
6

,6
3

2
, a

 1
4

%
 in

cr
ea

se
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
FY

2
5

 B
u

d
ge

t.

In
cr

e
as

e
s 

ar
e

 a
tt

ri
b

u
ta

b
le

 t
o

:

•
P

ro
p

er
ty

 T
ax

 r
ev

en
u

e 
$

3
7

3
,0

0
0

  i
n

cr
ea

se
d

 d
u

e 
to

  a
 r

is
e 

in
 t

h
e 

m
ar

ke
t 

va
lu

e 
o

f 
p

ro
p

er
ti

es
.

•
Li

ce
n

si
n

g 
&

 P
er

m
it

ti
n

g 
re

ve
n

u
e 

in
cr

ea
se

d
 b

y 
$

7
2

5
,0

0
0

 d
u

e 
to

 a
 1

5
%

 r
at

e 
in

cr
ea

se
 a

p
p

lie
d

 t
o

 t
h

e 
b

as
e.

•
R

es
id

en
ti

al
 R

en
ta

l L
ic

en
se

s 
(S

TR
) 

re
ve

n
u

e 
in

cr
ea

se
d

 b
y 

$
1

8
7

,0
0

0
 d

u
e 

to
 a

 1
5

%
 in

cr
ea

se
 a

p
p

lie
d

 t
o

 t
h

e 
b

as
e.

•
In

cr
ea

se
 G

ra
n

t 
in

co
m

e 
b

y 
$

1
.9

M
 w

it
h

 g
ra

n
ts

 a
w

ar
d

ed
 f

ro
m

FE
M

A
 H

az
ar

d
 M

it
ig

at
io

n
 a

n
d

 F
EM

A
 S

to
rm

w
at

er
 g

ra
n

ts
, a

s 
w

el
l a

s 
a

St
at

e 
B

u
d

ge
t 

A
llo

ca
ti

o
n

 g
ra

n
t.

•
To

u
ri

sm
 in

co
m

e 
in

cr
ea

se
d

 b
y 

$
4

2
3

,0
0

0
 b

as
ed

 o
n

 9
8

%
 o

f 
th

e 
ac

tu
al

 c
o

lle
ct

io
n

s 
fr

o
m

 m
o

st
 r

ec
en

t 
1

2
 m

o
n

th
s.

•
M

ar
in

a 
in

co
m

e 
in

cr
ea

se
d

 b
y 

$
3

7
8

,0
0

0
 b

as
ed

 o
n

 c
o

lle
ct

io
n

.

❖
To

ta
l e

xp
en

d
it

u
re

 is
 p

ro
je

ct
ed

 t
o

 b
e 

$
3

0
,1

4
1

,7
2

2
, r

ep
re

se
n

ti
n

g 
a 

1
3

%
 in

cr
ea

se
 f

ro
m

 F
Y2

5
.

18



F
Y

2
6
 B

u
d
g
e
t 

S
u
m

m
a
ry

 H
ig

h
li
g
h
ts

❖
Th

e 
p

ro
p

o
se

d
 b

u
d

ge
t 

d
o

es
 n

o
t 

in
cl

u
d

e 
an

 in
cr

ea
se

 t
o

 p
ro

p
er

ty
 t

ax
es

.

❖
G

en
er

al
 F

u
n

d
 r

ev
en

u
es

 a
re

 b
u

d
ge

te
d

 a
t 

$
1

6
,4

8
9

,8
1

1
 –

ap
p

ro
xi

m
at

e
ly

 1
1

%
 h

ig
h

er
 t

h
an

 t
h

e 
 F

Y2
5

 b
u

d
ge

t.

❖
G

en
er

al
 F

u
n

d
 e

xp
en

d
it

u
re

 is
 p

ro
je

ct
ed

 t
o

 b
e 

ap
p

ro
xi

m
at

e
ly

 7
%

h
ig

h
er

 t
h

an
 t

h
e 

FY
2

5
 b

u
d

ge
t,

 p
ri

m
ar

ily
 d

u
e 

to
 in

cr
ea

se
d

 p
er

so
n

n
el

 c
o

st
s.

❖
Pe

rs
o

n
n

el
 c

o
st

s 
ac

co
u

n
t 

fo
r 

7
1

%
o

f 
ge

n
er

al
 f

u
n

d
 e

xp
en

d
it

u
re

 a
n

d
 4

1
%

o
f 

ci
ty

-w
id

e 
ex

p
en

d
it

u
re

. T
h

e 
b

u
d

ge
t 

fo
r 

FY
2

6
 in

cl
u

d
es

 o
n

e 
n

ew
 p

o
si

ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

th
e

B
ea

ch
 R

es
ili

e
n

cy
 O

ff
ic

e 
an

d
 a

n
ti

ci
p

at
e

s 
fi

lli
n

g 
al

l r
em

ai
n

in
g 

o
p

en
 p

o
si

ti
o

n
s.

❖
Tr

an
sf

er
s 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e 

To
u

ri
sm

 F
u

n
d

s 
to

 t
h

e 
G

en
er

al
 F

u
n

d
 a

re
 p

ro
je

ct
ed

 t
o

 b
e 

$
2

,6
6

6
,0

5
9

, r
ef

le
ct

in
g 

a 
9

%
in

cr
ea

se
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
FY

2
5

 b
u

d
ge

t.
 T

h
is

 a
p

p
ro

xi
m

at
e

ly

$
2

1
4

,0
0

0
 in

cr
ea

se
 is

 in
te

n
d

e
d

 t
o

 c
o

ve
r 

ri
si

n
g 

p
er

so
n

n
el

 c
o

st
s.

❖
To

u
ri

sm
 r

ev
en

u
es

 a
re

 p
ro

je
ct

ed
 a

t 
$

7
.6

M
, w

h
ic

h
 is

 a
p

p
ro

xi
m

at
e

ly
 9

8
%

o
f 

th
e 

re
ce

n
t 

1
2

-m
o

n
th

 a
ct

u
al

s.

❖
Th

e 
cu

rr
en

t 
p

ro
p

o
se

d
 b

u
d

ge
t 

d
o

es
 n

o
t 

in
cl

u
d

e 
an

y 
n

ew
 d

eb
t.

19



H
ig

h
li
g
h
ts

 b
y
 D

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

 
G

e
n
e
ra

l

G
e

n
e

ra
l

•
P

ro
vi

si
o

n
 f

o
r 

2
.5

%
C

O
LA

 a
n

d
 3

%
m

er
it

 p
o

o
l w

ag
e 

ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

.

•
$

7
2

,3
6

5
C

it
y’

s 
tu

it
io

n
 r

ei
m

b
u

rs
em

en
t 

p
ro

gr
am

 f
o

r 
em

p
lo

ye
es

 p
u

rs
u

in
g 

d
eg

re
es

 o
f 

h
ig

h
er

 e
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
.

•
$

2
4

5
,0

0
0

fo
r 

in
it

ia
ti

ve
s 

re
co

m
m

en
d

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
En

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l A
d

vi
so

ry
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e 

an
d

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

En
ri

ch
m

en
t 

Ta
sk

 F
o

rc
e–

in
cl

u
d

in
g 

w
at

er

te
st

in
g,

 g
la

ss
 r

ec
yc

lin
g 

an
d

 S
m

ar
t 

C
o

m
p

o
st

in
g,

 a
s 

w
el

l a
s 

St
at

e 
an

d
 F

ed
er

al
 L

o
b

b
yi

st
 a

n
d

 g
ra

n
t 

w
ri

ti
n

g 
se

rv
ic

es
.

•
$

1
0

0
,0

0
0

fo
r 

fl
o

o
d

 m
it

ig
at

io
n

 p
ro

je
ct

 o
n

 F
o

re
st

 T
ra

il 
fu

lly
 f

u
n

d
ed

 b
y 

gr
an

t.

•
$

5
0

,0
0

0
is

 a
llo

ca
te

d
 f

o
r 

th
e 

re
co

n
fi

gu
ra

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e 
u

p
st

ai
rs

 c
o

n
fe

re
n

ce
 r

o
o

m
 t

o
 c

re
at

e 
ad

d
it

io
n

al
 o

ff
ic

e 
sp

ac
es

.

•
$

2
5

0
,0

0
0

fo
r 

es
se

n
ti

al
 r

ep
ai

r 
an

d
 m

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 t
o

 C
it

y 
H

al
l.

•
$

9
5

,0
0

0
fo

r 
b

en
ch

es
 in

 F
ro

n
t 

B
ea

ch
 a

re
a 

an
d

 t
h

e 
re

p
ai

r 
o

f 
si

d
ew

al
ks

 o
n

 O
ce

an
 B

lv
d

 b
et

w
ee

n
 1

0
th

 a
n

d
 1

4
th

.

•
$

2
8

5
,0

0
0

fo
r 

th
e 

re
p

ai
r 

o
f 

d
u

n
e 

w
al

ko
ve

rs
 a

n
d

 r
ep

la
ce

m
en

t 
o

f 
m

o
b

im
at

s 
as

 n
ee

d
ed

.

•
$

5
7

0
,0

0
0

fo
r 

b
ea

ch
 m

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

, i
n

cl
u

d
in

g 
n

o
u

ri
sh

m
en

t 
p

er
m

it
ti

n
g,

 c
o

o
rd

in
at

io
n

 w
it

h
 t

h
e 

U
SA

C
E,

 g
ro

in
 p

er
m

it
ti

n
g,

 a
n

d
 o

n
go

in
g 

sh
o

re
lin

e

m
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g.

•
$

3
0

0
,0

0
0

al
lo

ca
te

d
 f

o
r 

th
e 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

o
f 

p
u

b
lic

 g
re

en
 s

p
ac

e 
at

 t
h

e 
M

ar
in

a 
an

d
 t

h
e 

re
su

rf
ac

in
g 

o
f 

th
e 

ci
ty

's
 p

o
rt

io
n

 o
f 

th
e 

M
ar

in
a 

p
ar

ki
n

g 
lo

t.

•
$

1
.5

 m
ill

io
n

fo
r 

d
re

d
gi

n
g 

at
 t

h
e 

ci
ty

’s
 M

ar
in

a.

20



S
u
m

m
a
ry

 H
ig

h
li
g
h
ts

 P
o
li
c
e
 D

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t

P
o

lic
e

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

•
$

2
1

7
,0

0
0

fo
r 

n
ew

 v
eh

ic
le

 p
u

rc
h

as
es

.

•
$

1
8

,0
0

0
fo

r 
re

p
la

ce
m

en
t 

fo
r 

co
m

p
u

te
r 

se
rv

er
.

•
$

2
0

,0
0

0
fo

r 
sp

ee
d

 r
ad

ar
 a

n
d

 t
ra

ile
r.

•
$

6
,0

0
0

to
 r

ep
la

ce
 t

h
e 

P
u

b
lic

 S
af

et
y 

B
u

ild
in

g 
ga

te
.

•
$

4
0

,0
0

0
fo

r 
n

ew
 c

o
m

p
u

te
rs

 w
it

h
 W

in
d

o
w

s 
1

1
.

21



S
u
m

m
a
ry

 H
ig

h
li
g
h
ts

 F
ir

e
 D

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t

Fi
re

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

•
$

1
8

,0
0

0
fo

r 
Se

a 
D

o
o

 je
t 

sk
i a

t 
Fi

re
 S

ta
ti

o
n

 1
.

•
$

3
0

0
,0

0
0

al
lo

ca
te

d
 f

o
r 

a 
re

sc
u

e 
b

o
at

, w
it

h
 t

h
e 

ci
ty

 s
ee

ki
n

g 
a 

FE
M

A
 g

ra
n

t 
to

 c
o

ve
r 

7
5

%
 o

f 
th

e 
to

ta
l $

1
.2

 m
ill

io
n

 c
o

st
.

•
$

2
6

,0
0

0
fo

r 
A

ll-
Te

rr
ai

n
 V

eh
ic

le
 (

AT
V

) 
fo

r 
b

ea
ch

 p
at

ro
l.

•
$

4
0

,0
0

0
fo

r 
th

er
m

al
 im

ag
in

g 
ca

m
er

a.

•
$

1
2

,0
0

0
fo

r 
b

at
te

ry
 p

o
w

er
ed

 P
o

si
ti

ve
 P

re
ss

u
re

 V
en

ti
la

ti
o

n
 (

P
P

V
) 

fa
n

s.

•
$

6
,0

0
0

to
 r

ep
la

ce
 t

h
e 

P
u

b
lic

 S
af

et
y 

B
u

ild
in

g 
ga

te
.

22



S
u
m

m
a
ry

 H
ig

h
li
g
h
ts

 P
u
b
li
c
 W

o
rk

s 
D

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t

P
u

b
lic

 W
o

rk
s

•
$

6
8

,0
0

0
al

lo
ca

te
d

 t
o

 r
ep

la
ce

 t
h

e 
h

o
p

p
er

 t
ru

ck
 w

it
h

 a
 f

la
tb

ed
 d

u
m

p
 t

ru
ck

.

•
$

3
2

0
,0

0
0

fo
r 

re
ar

 lo
ad

er
 g

ar
b

ag
e 

tr
u

ck
.

•
$

2
0

,0
0

0
to

 r
ep

la
ce

 f
o

u
r 

4
-i

n
 f

lo
o

d
 w

at
er

 p
u

m
p

s 
as

 n
ee

d
ed

.

•
$

2
0

,0
0

0
fo

r 
th

e 
re

p
la

ce
m

en
t 

o
f 

fu
el

 d
is

p
en

se
rs

.

•
$

1
3

1
,0

0
0

to
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e 

th
e 

co
st

-s
h

ar
in

g 
p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 w

it
h

 D
o

m
in

io
n

 E
n

er
gy

 f
o

r 
m

o
vi

n
g 

u
ti

lit
y 

lin
es

 u
n

d
er

gr
o

u
n

d
.

•
$

1
0

0
,0

0
0

to
 p

u
rc

h
as

e 
9

6
-g

al
lo

n
 g

ar
b

ag
e 

ca
rt

s 
fo

r 
tr

an
si

ti
o

n
in

g 
th

e 
re

m
ai

n
in

g 
ca

rt
s 

to
 n

ew
 s

id
e 

lo
ad

er
s.

•
$

4
,1

4
8

,6
6

8
al

lo
ca

te
d

 f
o

r 
to

ta
l d

ra
in

ag
e 

p
ro

je
ct

s 
id

en
ti

fi
e

d
 b

y 
th

e 
co

m
p

re
h

en
si

ve
 d

ra
in

ag
e 

p
la

n
, i

n
cl

u
d

in
g 

ge
n

er
al

 d
ra

in
ag

e,
 t

h
e 

Pa
lm

 B
lv

d
 d

ra
in

ag
e 

p
ro

je
ct

b
et

w
ee

n
 3

8
th

 a
n

d
 4

1
st

, o
n

go
in

g 
d

ra
in

ag
e 

an
d

 d
it

ch
 m

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

, a
n

d
 t

h
e 

el
ev

at
io

n
 o

f 
th

e 
W

at
er

w
ay

 B
lv

d
 m

u
lt

i-
u

se
 p

at
h

. $
3

,2
3

0
,0

0
0

o
f 

th
is

 a
m

o
u

n
t 

w
ill

 b
e

fu
n

d
ed

 b
y 

FE
M

A
 H

az
ar

d
 M

it
ig

at
io

n
 a

n
d

 S
to

rm
w

at
er

 g
ra

n
ts

, a
s 

w
el

l a
s 

th
e 

St
at

e 
B

u
d

ge
t 

A
llo

ca
ti

o
n

 g
ra

n
t.

23



S
u
m

m
a
ry

 H
ig

h
li
g
h
ts

 R
e
c
re

a
ti

o
n
 D

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t

R
e

cr
e

at
io

n

•
$

2
0

,0
0

0
fo

r 
sc

o
re

b
o

ar
d

s 
an

d
 p

la
yg

ro
u

n
d

 e
q

u
ip

m
en

t.

•
$

1
6

,0
0

0
al

lo
ca

te
d

 fo
r 

so
cc

er
 g

o
al

s 
fe

n
ci

n
g 

fo
r 

so
cc

er
 f

ie
ld

.

•
$

2
2

0
,0

0
0

fo
r 

re
co

n
st

ru
ct

in
g 

tw
o

 t
en

n
is

 c
o

u
rt

s 
an

d
 fe

n
ci

n
g 

fo
r 

te
n

n
is

 c
o

u
rt

s.

•
$

2
0

,0
0

0
fo

r 
th

e 
re

p
la

ce
m

en
t 

o
f 

fl
o

o
ri

n
g 

in
 t

h
e 

o
ff

ic
e 

an
d

 lo
b

b
y 

ar
ea

.

•
$

1
2

,0
0

0
al

lo
ca

te
d

 fo
r 

lig
h

ti
n

g 
im

p
ro

ve
m

en
ts

 in
 t

h
e 

h
al

lw
ay

 a
n

d
 lo

b
b

y 
ar

ea
.

24



T
h

a
n

k
 y

o
u

25



SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETING -- WORKSHOP 
5:00pm, Tuesday, June 10, 2025 

City Hall Council Chambers 
1207 Palm Boulevard, Isle of Palms, SC 

MINUTES 

1. Call to Order

Present: Council members Bogosian, Streetman, Anderson, Pierce Ward, Hahn, 
Carroll, Miars, and Mayor Pounds 

Staff Present: Administrator Kerr, various department heads 

2. Citizens’ Comments – none

3. Special Presentations

A. Update on Beach Projects – Steven Traynum

Mr. Traynum said over 117,000 cubic yards of sand were moved from the shoal onto the beach 
at Beachwood East and Ocean Club. Sandbags remain in place. He said that two more phases of 
the project are allowed with the current permit. Additional sand can be moved in the fall if the 
conditions warrant it. There is a 60’ berm of dry sand as of today. The shoal should attach to the 
beach in the next 6 months. There are approximately 600,000 cubic yards of sand in the shoal. 

He said, “The hot spot would be that area, the west end of Beachwood and then the Ocean Club 
area which will start to accrete as this sand is attaching. It’s starting to spread to the north, and I 
would anticipate we will start to see some accretion close to the shoal, and then over maybe the 
next 12 months, that should start to work its way far enough north to the Ocean Club type area. 
So we may have some period over the next 6-12 months where we’d have additional erosion. It 
was very stable before the project. We’ve seen a little bit of erosion since then, and that’s one of 
the reasons we didn’t put as much sand there because it wasn’t eroding near as fast as the 
Beachwood area was. “ 

Mr. Traynum reported that all of the work on the USACE project has been focused south of 3rd 
Avenue to date. He has requested they begin moving north. He said 35,000 cubic yards of sand 
has been moved into a new dune between Breach Inlet and 10th Avenue and it has held up well 
throughout multiple spring tides. He recommends vegetation plantings in the fall. He said 
residents can get permits to add sand fencing. Administrator Kerr will secure a source of sand 
fencing to share with property owners.  

Mr. Traynum hopes the project to pull and place sand from the ICW will be this fall. 

26



City Council Workshop, 6/10/2025 

2 

Regarding the large-scale renourishment project, he said, “We are getting close to having all the 
kind of science background done for that permit. Most of that effort has been on the offshore 
borings, working on the geotech, trying to find a suitable borrow area. The biological assessment 
is pretty much complete other than putting that borrow area information into it. We are 
continuing to coordinate with SHIPO. They are still wanting us to avoid the proposed historic 
district, which is four square miles offshore that does contain some very good sand. So we want 
to make sure that the City, whether it’s this project, or a future project, maintains an ability to use 
some of that material. Once we have the full permit package ready to go, we submit it to the City 
for a review. I would be happy to speak with the beach committee to go through what the scope 
of that is and make any adjustments that we would need to make. And hopefully, we can have 
that submitted by the end of July.” 

Regular beach monitoring is scheduled for July. He will be looking at the east end to “better 
identify the areas that are problems and areas that are gaining.” 

He reviewed some of the proposed parameters for a large-scale renourishment project. Council 
Member Pierce asked for updated soft costs involved with a large-scale project.  

Mayor Pounds said the additional sand from the ICW should be taken into account. But Mr. 
Traynum said he does not want to count on USACE for anything. Administrator Kerr added that 
he has not heard of dredging near Breach Inlet as a solution to the erosion problem in that area. A 
terminal groin is a better alternative. 

Mr. Traynum’s presentation is attached to these minutes. 

B. Environmental Advisory Committee Initiatives – Laura Lovins

Ms. Lovins reviewed the most recent and planned initiatives of the Environmental Advisory 
Committee. Her presentation is attached to these minutes. 

C. Draft of Comprehensive Plan – Planning Commission

Administrator Kerr explained the State’s requirements for a Comprehensive Plan. This plan 
includes a new Resiliency element. The Planning Commission would like for City Council to 
review the plan and submit feedback to them in the next 30 days. The Planning Commission will 
then get the Comprehensive Plan in final form and recommend it to City Council for approval. 

Administrator Kerr will send the redline version of the Plan to the Council so they can see what 
has changed. He asked them to pay special attention to the Resiliency, Transportation, and 
Priority Investment elements of the plan. 

4. Dashboard of City Operations and Short-Term Rental Report

Administrator Kerr said City Hall has several vacancies which they are finding challenging to 
fill. There are two vacancies in the Police Department and two in Fire. 

He noted that the STR report shows the total number of short-term rental licenses is stable. 

5. Departmental Reports

27



City Council Workshop, 6/10/2025 

3 

6. Financial Review

Financial Statements and project worksheets

Director Hamilton said total revenues are at 91%. The budget is overperforming in property 
taxes, business licenses, rental licenses, building permits, and court revenue. Only 67% of LOST 
has been collected as of the end of May due to timing delays. There are similar timing delays in a 
few tourism revenue streams. Parking revenues are underperforming due to the reduced City 
share and some timing differences. General Fund expenditures are within budget. 

Drainage costs in the Capital Fund are over budget, coming in at $391,000 versus a budget of 
$250,000. Public Works is over budget due to the solid waste and recycling contract. Beach 
Preservation is also over budget due to the cost of placing sand on the beach. Some of those costs 
have been offset by a grant. Disaster Recovery is over budget by $25,000 due to some 
unanticipated storm preparation and cleanup costs. 

The City has $50 million in cash and earned interest last month at a rate of 4.49%. The current 
fund balance is $47 million. The $3 million difference is due to net assets and liabilities not 
reflected in cash.  

Municipal ATAX, Beach Preservation, State ATAX, and the County Pass-Through are all 
overperforming from this time last year.  

7. Procurement

Discussion of modifications to 2nd Floor of City Hall

Administrator Kerr said staff is looking for Council approval for one of the bids to modify the 
second floor of City Hall. There are two bids in the packet, and he hopes to have another one by 
the Council meeting. 

8. Capital Projects Update

Administrator Kerr reported that 19 of 21 homeowners have signed the agreement needed to 
complete the drainage work at the Wild Dunes golf course. He said the window of opportunity to 
get the work done with the onsite contractor is diminishing. They are working on contingency 
plans should the City not be able to work with the current contractor. 

Staff is working to secure the permits needed for the work between 38th and 41st Avenues. There 
is disagreement between the City and SCDOT as to who should maintain the project upon 
completion. 

Staff is also working on securing permits for the marina dredging project. 

The work on the Emergency Vehicle Path at the County Park is awaiting final landscaping and 
power hook-up. 

Council Member Anderson met with the civil engineer about the marina parking lot. They are 
still waiting for approval from the tenants. 

28



City Council Workshop, 6/10/2025 

4 

9. Strategic Plan Policy Initiatives and Priorities

A. Livability

i. Discussion of engaging a traffic engineer to document traffic on July 4th

Administrator Kerr said the Public Safety Committee discussed the pinch points of traffic that 
led to the gridlock on Memorial Day weekend. They would like to use July 4th weekend as an 
opportunity to secure data to better identify the pinch points and possible solutions. Stantech is 
able to deploy drones to watch patterns of build and release throughout the day. This will be an 
unbudgeted expense if the Council wishes to vote on it at their June meeting. 

A brief discussion determined that July 5 would be the better day to watch since July 4 will 
include traffic for fireworks. 

ii. Discussion of golf cart regulations

Administrator Kerr said the new golf cart regulations signed into law in May allow 
municipalities to designate official golf cart paths. The other changes to the law are being 
incorporated into the work of the Public Safety department. 

B. Environmental

Discuss of palm tree planting proposal in large municipal lot

This project will be discussed by the Environmental Advisory Committee this week. It will then 
go to the Public Services & Facilities Committee for consideration before coming to Council. 
Staff is talking with a landscape architect about irrigation and other concerns. 

C. Public Services

D. Personnel

E. Other items for discussion

Resolution 2025-03 – to increase building permit fees

Administrator Kerr said, “I think Council agreed to generically kind of a 15% increase, and that 
is the percent increase that was applied to building permits specifically. The other subcontractor 
permits, it was brought to our attention that they were just so low that it is literally costing the 
City money in terms of manpower to do the electrical inspection, plumbing inspections for what 
we were charging. So those increases are more than 15%. I don’t think they are onerous, but I 
think it gets up to a cost that is equivalent to the service that the City’s providing for those 
permits.” 

Administrator Kerr will forward benchmark information to the Council. 

29



City Council Workshop, 6/10/2025 

5 

10. Legislative Report

11. Adjournment

The next City Council Workshop will be held on Tuesday, July 8, 2025 at 5pm.

Council Member Ward made a motion to adjourn the meeting, and Council Member Hahn 
seconded the motion. The meeting was adjourned at 6:34pm.  

Respectfully submitted, 

Nicole DeNeane 
City Clerk 

30



Isle of Palms 
Beach Management

Update

31



Current Projects along IOP

▪ South End USACE Beneficial
Use Project

▪ Shoal Management Project

▪ Large-Scale Nourishment
Permitting

▪ Monitoring

32



Shoal Management Project Status
▪ Phase 1 work completed 22 May, 2025

▪ Total of 117,500 cy moved from shoal area

▪ ~80,000 cy at Beachwood

▪ ~38,000 cy at Ocean Club/Seascape

▪ Project limited by funds, tide conditions, and beach use

33



Early Construction

34



Shoal Harvesting

35



Completed Project

36



Completed Project

37



Completed Project

38



Completed Project

Gap at west end of 

shoal is shrinking, but 

still causing focused 

waves

39



Nov 2024

40



Apr 2025

41



May 2025

42



May 28, 2025

43



May 28, 2025

44



Project Outcomes and Expectations

▪ Project restored a dry sand berm along both fill sections

▪ Access around stone revetment at Seagrove improved

▪ Project withstood multiple nor’easter events with no damage to
structures

▪ Sand volume was lower at east fill area due to stability of the beach
prior to the project – most of dry sand at Ocean Club has shifted but
a wider intertidal beach remains

▪ Focused erosion is still ongoing at Beachwood, but reducing

▪ Western arm of shoal will likely merge with beach or other shoal in
next ~6 months

▪ Eastern arm is attached and we should start seeing recovery
shifting east soon

▪ Possible Phase 2 of initial project is possible in fall if necessary

45



USACE Project

▪ Ongoing work along south end.

▪ All work to date has been south of 3rd Ave

▪ CSE requested USACE shift work further north

▪ Estimated ~150,000 cy have been placed to date (CSE rough est)

▪ IOP sponsored dune restoration relocated 35,000 cy of material into
a new dune between Breach Inlet and 10th Ave.

▪ Dune has held up well through multiple spring tides >7.5 ft

▪ CSE recommends planting the dune in the early fall with dune veg

46



South End Dune

47



Large-scale Nourishment

▪ CSE is finalizing geotechnical investigations –
▪ Collection, processing, and analysis of ~80 offshore borings

▪ Biological Assessment ~80% - pending final borrow area info

▪ Coordinating with SHPO for identification of suitable borrow area
and geophysical data collection

▪ Will include recommendations from Beach Ad-hoc committee
approved by council

▪ Permit submission by end of July 2025, issued by early-mid 2026

▪ First possible construction window Fall 2026/early 2027

48



Geotechnical Data

49



Monitoring

▪ Annual survey scheduled for
July 2025

▪ Feb 2025 survey shows
continued erosion south of
pier and dynamic east end

▪ Trend is positive for next 6
months

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

U
n

it
 V

o
lu

m
e 

(c
y/

ft
)

East End Beach Volumes (cy/ft)

Jul-07 Mar-08 Jul-08 Sep-09 Sep-10

Jun-11 Jul-12 Jul-13 Sep-14 Aug-15

Aug-16 May-17 Apr-18 Jun-19 Jun-20

Jul-21 Aug-22 Aug-23 Sep-24 Feb-25

50



ENVIRONMENTAL 

ADVISORY 

COMMITTEE

Laura Lovins ,  Chair

51



Our Vision

52



OUR MISSION

To advise city council on matters of 

environmental impact, protections, 

conservation, and sustainability by 

exploring best practices and data.

3
53



4

Focus on Four Areas

Reduction of 

litter, waste, 

and pollution

Protection of 

wildlife and 

habitat

Maintenance 

of water 

quality

Advocacy/ 

leadership in 

climate action

54



• IOP is experiencing light pollution increases of 4% PER YEAR since 2013.

• Other Lowcountry barrier islands have adopted ordinances that minimize light

spillage and “sky glow” across the island.

• IOP can leverage

existing best practices

across the

Lowcountry to better

manage this

challenge

• EAC is drafting

proposed changes to

existing IOP

ordinances

LIGHT POLLUTIONLITTER AND WASTE –

55



LITTER AND 
WASTE

• Continued the partnership
with SMART Recycling for
food scrap composting, with
bins at Carmen Bunch Park
and marina

• Gave out close to 100
compost bins at IOP
Farmers Market events
during 2024

• Added compost bin liner
dispensers from SMART
Recycling at Carmen Bunch
Park and the marina

6
56



LITTER AND WASTE
• The EAC is working on a hybrid

approach to litter removal from IOP’s 55

beach access points, the front beach

commercial area, & cans in the

municipal parking lot.

• The current litter removal program has

been implemented by an independent

contractor, whose contract will expire

Fall of ’25- their equipment requires the

use of open trash cans- often allowing

litter to blow out of the cans & allows

birds and animals to get to food

scrapes.  The current cans also have to

be removed during storms & king tides.

• The new plan will place roll cans with

lids in corrals streetside & at most beach

access paths, as well as behind dune

lines & the front beach commercial area.

2 0 X X P R E S E N T A T I O N  T I T L E 7
57



HABITAT AND WILDLIFE
From May 1st through May 31st, Mary 

Pringle coordinated with the City’s 

contractor, SJ Hamill, regarding 

loggerhead turtle nesting and sand 

placement on IOP in Wild Dunes. 

Turtle teams were to give Mary the 

“all clear ” during their sunrise walks if 

there were no tracks between the 

POBH and Ocean Club or between 

POBH and Beachwood East where the 

sand placement was being done, to 

ensure the trucks would not be 

covering turtle tracks or destroying 

nests.

2 0 X X P R E S E N T A T I O N  T I T L E 8
58



HABITAT AND 
WILDLIFE
• Our native plant garden is in it’s

second season at 7th and Palm,
thanks to Sharleen Johnson
with Native Plants to the
People, Matt Simms, and
members of the Exchange Club
who donated benches.

• We also have 14 families of
Purple Martins at the garden!
Mary Pringle is working with SC
Audubon to get the nestlings
banded so we can see if they
return again next year.

9
59



HABITAT AND 
WILDLIFE
• The new public dock was

unveiled this Spring, and
the EAC is working with
Susan Hill Smith on an
installation of wildlife and
nature interpretive signs to
be placed around the
walkways at the dock.

• Funding for the installation
is being pursued with
Islander 71, the Marina,
and Wild Dunes Resort.

10
60



HABITAT AND 
WILDLIFE

• In March of this year, a resident of IOP

came to the EAC meeting to provide

citizen’s comments on her family’s health

issues related to environmental toxins-

specifically unsafe levels of Glyphosate

(Round-Up).

• The EAC did research on Glyphosate,

and found that cities and municipalities

across the US have restricted or banned

the use of Glyphosate, the active

ingredient in Round-Up, driven by

concerns of health risks and negative

environmental impact.

2 0 X X P R E S E N T A T I O N  T I T L E 1 1
61



HABITAT AND
WILDLIFE

• The EAC is working on language to ban the

use of Glyphosate (i.e. RoundUp TM) on

City owned or managed properties, to

leverage best practices from 11 other states.

• The City of IOP currently uses RoundUp

sparingly on weeds in tough areas, like

gravel parking lots.

• Green Carolina, the main landscape

company for Wild Dunes also uses

RoundUp sparingly –their main herbicide is

Speed Zone, which does not  contain

Glyphosate.

• Glyphosate is used on the golf courses in

Wild Dunes

2 0 X X P R E S E N T A T I O N  T I T L E 1 2
62



• The Environmental Advisory Committee will begin working through many of the

climate action items that were identified by the Community Enrichment Plan, put

forward in early 2025.

• Topics include: advancing recommendations from the City’s Sea Level Rise

Adaptation Plan; model, map, and monitor areas on the island most susceptible to

sea level rise, flooding, and storm surge; study, and help to inform the City and

the island residents on the social and economic impacts of climate change,

including cost analysis/calculations; make recommendations on living shorelines,

neighborhood raingardens, and other natural vegetation to mitigate flooding

related to climate change.

1 3

Climate Action

63



MAINTENANCE OF WATER  QUALITY
• Many neighborhoods and areas of the island

regularly experience flooding, not just during

major storms, but now during “sunny day’ rain

events.

• There are approximately 1,150 septic systems

on IOP, and there are over 200 grinder pumps

due to development.  There a currently no

ordinances requiring inspections of septic

systems.

• In ‘24, EAC unanimously approved a proposal

for monitoring water quality at drainage

outfalls.

• Parameters of interest include fecal coliforms,

total coliforms, nitrogen, phosphorous, oil and

grease, pH, and suspended solids.

• Analysis was performed by Trident and Gel Lab1 4
64



MAINTANANCE OF WATER 
QUALITY
• Three (3) outfalls from the testing came back with

unhealthy levels of nitrates & total nitrogen which

lead to algal blooms/eutrophication, TKN (organic

and ammonia nitrates) suggesting organic waste

or sewage contamination, as well as

heavy sediment (oil & grease) runoff.

• The next step is to do additional testing to pre-

screen for levels of bacteria.  This will determine if

we move forward with additional testing broken

out by DNA of different species to begin to

pinpoint human vs. animal (deer, gull, dog, bird)

bacteria.  If we test several times, and the bacteria

levels come back consistently high for human

waste vs. animal, then we have a case for

recommending septic inspection ordinances.

2 0 X X P R E S E N T A T I O N  T I T L E 1 5
65



MAINTENANCE OF WATER 
QUALITY

• In 2024, Sandy Brotherton, Chair of the

EAC asked that water quality, specifically

finding ways to help the Water & Sewer

Commission expand the island sewer

system, become top priority.

• After meeting with Chris Jordan at the

Water Commission in early Spring of ‘24,

it became clear that major funds would

need to be found and secured to enable

the planned sewer expansion on the

island to happen.

• In June of ‘24, the EAC met with Ryne

Phillips, Water Resources Team Leader of

Seamon Whitside, to find out about

Federal level funds available for municipal

water projects.
2 0 X X P R E S E N T A T I O N  T I T L E 1 6

66



MAINTENANCE OF WATER 
QUALITY 

• With the MOU between the City and the Water

department, the EAC coordinated a meeting

with Chris Jordan and Douglas Kerr in

Septermber ‘24 to discuss the sewer master

plan.  The EAC forwarded the idea of setting up

a meeting with Ryne Phillips to present ways the

City and Water department could tap into

Federal funds for water infrastructure.

• A meeting with the EAC, Ryne, Douglas and

Chris was coordinated, and the City and the

Water department agreed to pursue looking

into hiring a Federal lobbyist to help with their

big ticket projects.

• March ‘25, Council unanimously voted to hire

• Thorn Run Partners as Federal lobbyist.2 0 X X P R E S E N T A T I O N  T I T L E 1 7
67



COMMITTEE MEMBERS

1 8

Laura Lovins, Chair

Todd Murphy, Vice Chair

Eric Cicora

Matt Simms

Sean Popson

Lucinda (Cindy) Marrs

Mary Pringle

Lucia Spiotta, student member

68



Public Comments - May 22-June 20, 2025

Date 
Submitted

Name Address Comments for Council Meeting
Meeting This 
Comment is 
Intended For:

6/18/2025 Sean  Griffin

4 Marsh Point 
Lane, Isle of 
Palms, South 
Carolina 29451

As a long time resident for 26 years? I’ve always been concerned about how fisherman 
will go to the beach and start fishing right next to swimmers. I would encourage the city 
council to ban fishing within 100 feet of beachgoers during the main beach hours 9 AM 
to 5 PM. I strongly feel as if they bring in more small and medium sized sharks, which 
can lead to more negative human interaction. This kind of interaction could lead to a lot 
of injury and negative publicity for IOP. Thank you!

City Council

6/10/2025 Rich  Steinert
3601 Hartnett, 
IOP, South 
Carolina 29451

A useful data point to add to the short term rental slide would be to see how the number 
of STRL for single family homes has changed during the same 2010-2024 period.

City Council

6/10/2025 Rich  Steinert
3601 Hartnett, 
IOP, South 
Carolina 29451

I want to confirm if the July 4th golf cart parade is still planned and supported for 2025.    
It is a great family event.

City Council

69



Public Comments - May 22-June 20, 2025

6/2/2025
Mrs. Sarah E. 
Vega

104 Sparrow 
Drive, Isle of 
Palms, South 
Carolina 29451

I regret that I am unable attend your meeting on 6/3 to share these comments directly, 
but I thank you for your consideration. At the May 30th Mayor’s Coffee, Chief Cornett 
highlighted the small size of our police force. It’s truly impossible for them to be 
everywhere at once. Much to my dismay, they weren’t able to witness me being passed 
by another vehicle TWICE in the past month on Waterway Boulevard – a road fully 
marked with double yellow lines – while making my way home at 25 mph. It’s happened 
to me other times in the past few years, but with summer here and recommendations 
from the Community  Enrichment Plan now assigned to your committee, I feel 
compelled to bring this safety issue to your attention. The Community Enrichment Plan 
specifically recommends reevaluating the need for speed limit signs on Waterway 
Boulevard, along with any other roads on the island that consistently see speed 
violations. To my knowledge, we have 2 signs on the entire island that would let people 
know they should be driving 25 mph on Waterway Boulevard – one at the base of the 
Connector and one as you cross Breach Inlet. We used to have at least 2 signs on 
Waterway Boulevard itself, one each direction, and they were great reminders, even for 
me at times, to slow down. They were removed several years ago to reduce signage on 
the island, which I can respect from an aesthetics perspective, but which I would also 
argue is now having unintended consequences. To make matters worse, if you are using 
Google Maps to navigate to a destination, which presumably many of our visitors are, 
the speed limit is incorrectly displayed at 30 mph for Waterway Boulevard. It leads me 
to question if many of our neighborhood streets also have the same problem of being 
incorrectly labeled. This is low-hanging fruit that can be addressed immediately as a 
city by contacting Google and asking SCDOT for support in doing the same. Likewise, 
anyone with knowledge of human factors should be able to recognize that having no 
speed limit signs on Waterway Boulevard doesn’t do much to ensure the safety of all the 
different vehicles and people using that road – personal vehicles, City vehicles, delivery 
vehicles, walkers, runners, bicyclists, skateboards, golf carts, and LSVs. I’m not naïve 
enough to believe that adding signage or correcting Google maps will fully eliminate 
driving infractions. However, I do drive like my children live here, and I’d like to see us as 

Public Safety 
Committee

70



Public Services & Facilities Committee Meeting 
9:00am, Tuesday, June 3, 2025 

1207 Palm Boulevard, Isle of Palms, SC and  
broadcasted live on YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/user/cityofisleofpalms 

MINUTES 

1. Call to Order

Present: Council members Pierce and Miars

Absent: Council Member Hahn

Staff Present: Administrator Kerr, Director Pitts, Asst. Director Asero, Director Ferrell

2. Citizen’s Comments -- none

3. Approval of Previous Meeting’s Minutes – May 6, 2025

MOTION:  Council Member Pierce made a motion to approve the minutes of the May 6, 
2025 meeting. Council Member Miars seconded the motion. The motion passed 
unanimously. 

4. Marina Tenants’ Comments -- none

5. Old Business

A. Update on Waterway Boulevard project

Administrator Kerr reported that 19 of 21 property owners have executed the agreement needed 
to move forward with the golf course portion of the project.  

He also shared that the contractor currently on site mentioned that they may not have the 
manpower to take on this project right now. If they cannot do it and or if Wild Dunes has 
concerns about the “intermingling with their contractors,” the City may have to find a new 
contractor for this portion of the project. He expects an answer this week, and it will take a few 
weeks to find a new contractor. 

B. Update on Beach projects

Administrator Kerr said the shoal management project wrapped up before Memorial Day. CS&E 
is surveying the work and the remaining shoal to ensure the sand is moving as expected. The 
work held up well during recent king tides. It will be at least 6 months before the shoal is fully 
attached. Sandbags remain in place in the Ocean Club area. Additional bags and or additional 
work on the shoal can be considered after the season if needed. 

71



Public Services & Facilities Committee, 6/3/2025 

2 

The work of the USACE is slow at the south end of the island. He would like to see them move 
their work towards 6th, 7th, and 8th blocks, but they say they do not have that flexibility at this 
time. They will eventually be in that area. Administrator Kerr will ask Mr. Traynum to review 
the permit to see if the City can move more sand and the costs involved, if needed. 

Council Member Pierce asked how much sand of the planned 500,000 cubic yards has been 
moved. Administrator Kerr pointed out that with the other sand from the ICW, the City is getting 
approximately 700,000 cubic yards of sand placed at the south end of the island.  

Council Member Pierce would like Mr. Traynum to update cost estimates of upcoming projects. 
Administrator Kerr will ask Mr. Traynum to attend next week’s workshop to update City 
Council. 

6. New Business

A. Request from Dominion Energy to consider EV charging stations

Administrator Kerr said this item will be moved to the July agenda since the Dominion Energy 
representative did not attend the meeting. 

B. Discussion on policy to allow civic organization signs

Both Council members Miars and Pierce do not believe allowing civic organizations to place 
signs on City property is a good idea. Council Member Miars said the vetting of the signs is a 
burden for the staff and does not see how the signs are beneficial to the City or the organization. 
They recommend the City not allow the placement of civic organization signage. 

C. Discussion on City’s IT arrangements

Council Member Pierce noted the increasing IT costs and would like to scrutinize the costs and 
contracts to look for the opportunity to optimize where possible. Administrator Kerr will run 
reports listing the largest expenses. Administrator Kerr, Director Hamilton, and Council Member 
Pierce will work together with VC3. 

D. Discussion of Public Services & Facilities-related matrix recommendations

Committee members reviewed the matrix recommendations. Director Ferrell detailed those 
suggestions for the Recreation Department that are in progress and those that are completed. 
Council Member Miars suggested that Director Ferrell evaluate the recommendations that are not 
complete and bring them back to the Committee when necessary. Administrator Kerr will amend 
the matrix to reflect the status of the Recreation Center recommendations. 

Administrator Kerr will bring back to the Committee examples of pavement lighting and the 
concept of Palm Boulevard that was endorsed by Council for further discussion.  

The Committee will discuss the power and drainage-related recommendations at their July 
meeting. 

72



Public Services & Facilities Committee, 6/3/2025 

3 

6. Miscellaneous Business

The next regular meeting of the Public Services & Facilities Committee will be Tuesday, June 8, 
2025 at 9am. 

7. Adjournment

Council Member Pierce made a motion to adjourn and Council Member Miars seconded the 
motion. The meeting was adjourned at 10:16am. 

Respectfully submitted,  
Nicole DeNeane 
City Clerk 

73



Public Safety Committee Meeting 
11:00am, Tuesday, June 3, 2025 

1207 Palm Boulevard, Isle of Palms, SC and  
broadcasted live on YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/user/cityofisleofpalms 

MINUTES 

1. Call to Order

Present: Council members Streetman, Anderson, Bogosian

Staff Present: Director Kerr, Director Hamilton, Chief Cornett, Chief Oliverius

2. Citizen’s Comments -- none

3. Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes – May 6, 2025

MOTION: Council Member Streetman made a motion to approve the minutes of the 
May 6, 2025 meeting. Council Member Anderson seconded the motion. The motion passed 
unanimously. 

4. Old Business -- none

5. New Business

A. Discussion of shark fishing/Seabrook Island ordinance

Committee members discussed the parts of the shark fishing ordinances from Seabrook Island 
and Horry County that they liked and disliked. After some discussion, Council Member 
Bogosian asked for staff to bring back a draft ordinance addressing no chumming (using 
Seabrook Island’s definition), no drone deployment, no commercial fishing, and no intentional 
fishing and taking of sharks. He would also like to see some guidelines regarding surf fishing 
that mirror Seabrook Island’s ordinance. Chief Cornett stated that guidelines are unenforceable. 

B. Discussion of changes to noise regulations

Council Member Bogosian reviewed his suggested changes to the last year’s failed noise 
ordinance that would modify the current noise ordinance with the intent of distinguishing 
between daytime and nighttime noise levels. He feels these changes make the ordinance more 
enforceable.  

Council Member Streetman said he has concerns about the use of “reasonable” in the first 
paragraph and believes these changes make the ordinance more subjective and less clear.  

Council Member Bogosian said he spoke with Chief Cornett about this at length and believes 
these changes address noise across the island and not just in relation to short-term rentals.  

74



Public Safety Committee, 6/3/2025 

2 

Council Member Anderson would like to see a specific decibel level (55 dBa) in the ordinance 
for nighttime noise levels. 

Chief Cornett said that Code Enforcement would like “reasonable” to be in the ordinance. He 
also offered two other administrative changes. He added that loud noise and loud speaking at 
night is already being addressed. He is not sure that these proposed changes make it more 
enforceable, but it goes provide clearer definitions for court. He added that decibel levels along 
with measurement guidelines also aid in prosecuting noise complaints. 

Further discussion of nighttime noise levels will be discussed at the July meeting. 

C. Discussion of Breach Inlet signage parking

Administrator Kerr said that the City will be working with Sullivan’s Island to create and place 
unified signage at Breach Inlet to increase public awareness of the dangers of swimming in the 
area. Council Member Anderson said the signs should clearly be official signage so that visitors 
don’t mistake it for privately placed and it should be bilingual. 

Discussion ensued as to the proper message and placement of the signs for maximum effect. The 
Committee would like to see “Don’t Swim Past This Point” on signs at the appropriate beach 
accesses and on the beach. 

Chief Oliverius suggested City Council may want to discuss similar warning signage and better 
historical signage at Thompson Park once the work at Breach Inlet is complete. He said it is an 
opportunity to reduce risk and beautify the island.  

Administrator Kerr will reach out to DNR about buoys in the area and SCDOT about signage on 
the bridge. 

D. Discussion of golf cart regulations

Chief Cornett reviewed some of the new golf cart regulations signed into law by the Governor on 
May 22, 2025: owners must have a DMV decal and registration for the golf cart, and it must be 
with the cart; owners must have proof of insurance on their person, and all passengers under 12 
must be properly restrained. 

He added that municipalities now have the authority to designate official golf cart paths. He will 
bring an ordinance to the Committee next month to make the path along Palm Boulevard an 
official path. 

Public Safety has been publicizing these changes via social media and reworking their golf cart 
brochure, which they will share with any business renting out golf carts. These updates were also 
shared at a recent Coffee with the Mayor. 

E. Discussion of traffic issues

Council Member Anderson explained the traffic gridlock she was stuck in on Memorial Day 
weekend. She believes officers controlling the traffic flow at the light could have helped the 
situation. 

75



Public Safety Committee, 6/3/2025 

3 

Chief Cornett stated that he also sat in the traffic and monitored all the 511 cameras throughout 
the day. He said the problem exists with the volume of traffic leaving the island simultaneously 
as well as drivers’ poor merging skills. He said he does not have enough staff to keep an officer 
directing traffic at the light. 

Council Member Anderson suggested a traffic study be done on July 4th and make 
recommendations about managing traffic flow better. Administrator Kerr said he will speak with 
Stantech to see what can be organized by that weekend and the costs involved. 

F. Discussion of public safety-related matrix recommendations

Administrator Kerr explained the organization of the matrix. He said the traffic flow and golf 
cart discussions were added to today’s agenda via the recommendations on the matrix. 

Council Member Bogosian and Administrator Kerr will group similar initiatives and then address 
1-2 per meeting.

6. Miscellaneous Business

Council Member Streetman asked about painting the pedestrian crosswalk at 43rd and Palm. 
Chief Cornett said he mentioned it to Asst. Director Asero and will follow up with him.  

Council Member Anderson stated that one of the “All Ways” signs is missing from the 
intersection at 41st Avenue. 

The next meeting of the Public Safety Committee will be Tuesday, July 1, 2025 at 11:00am.  

7. Adjournment

Council Member Bogosian made a motion to adjourn, and Council Member Streetman seconded 
the motion. The meeting was adjourned at 12:18pm. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Nicole DeNeane 
City Clerk 

76



Estimate from Beach Construction Company 
www.beachconstruction.net 

1487 United Drive 
      Huger, SC 29450

CUSTOMER: IOP 

1207 Palm Blvd. 
Isle of Palms, SC 29451 

JOB: 1207 Palm Blvd. 

DATE: 05/16/2025 

Description Amount

Scope of Work: 

- Constructing two walls on the second
floor of the building to allow for
additional office space.

- Two (2) walls measuring 15’ x 10’ and 9’ x
10’.

15’ x 10’ Wall: 

• 3’0” x 6’8” full lite RHIS pre-hung door. 1-
3/8” thickness.

• Isolate 2 lights in room and add an
additional light switch on inside of the
wall next to the door to operate the
isolated lights.

• Framing, insulation, electrical, sheetrock,
trim, and painting.

9’ x 10’ Wall: 

• 2’8” x 6’8” 6-panel RHIS pre-hung door. 1-
3/8” thickness.

• Moving HVAC supply in ceiling to allow for
framing of new wall.

• Framing, insulation, electrical, sheetrock,
trim, and painting.

I. Labor
II. Materials
III. Trash

I. $10,180.00
II. $5,988.00
III. $750.00

Total: $16,918.00 

77

http://www.beachconstruction.net/


Estimate from Beach Construction Company 
www.beachconstruction.net 

1487 United Drive 
      Huger, SC 29450

Terms: 

-Payment: Payment is due upon receipt of invoice for the disclosed amount. A service charge of 1.5% per month

(ANNUAL PERCENTAGE OF 18%) will be added to amounts not paid within 30 days.

-Changes in the services: The customer may request reasonable changes to the services; however, any changes to
the services must be in writing and signed by both the contractor and the customer per a change order.

-Sub-Contractors: Beach Construction Company provides their own sub-contractors for each individual project. All
other sub-contractors used outside of Beach Construction Company’s resources; require their individual permit and
supervision outside of the responsibility of Beach Construction Company.

-Materials: The cost of materials may be collected before construction begins, depending on the specifications of
the project. All lumber sizes are approximations; and are not nominal size.

-Painting: Painting prices cannot be determined before the project begins unless an architectural set of drawings is
provided. If no architectural drawings are provided; painting proposals will be determined once the project reaches
a further point of completion as to where the price of painting can be fairly determined. If the project alters from
the architectural drawings in any way; the original painting proposal is voided, and a new proposal will need to be
given.

By signing this agreement, all parties agree to the terms as described above. Alterations to this agreement can only 
be made by both parties and must be placed in writing. Both parties will be responsible for upholding its terms. 

*Building our Legacy Started by Building for our Customers!

Customer Signature: ______________________________________ Date: _________________ 

Beach Construction Signature: ______________________________ Date: _________________ 

78

http://www.beachconstruction.net/


1 

BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS 
4:00pm, Tuesday, June 3, 2025 

1207 Palm Boulevard, Isle of Palms, SC 

MINUTES 

1. Call to order

Present: Glenn Thornburg, Ellen Gower, Susie Wheeler, Bob Miller, and Zoning 
Administrator Simms 

Absent: Ted McKnight 

2. Approval of Previous Meeting’s Minutes

MOTION: Ms. Wheeler made a motion to approve the minutes of the May 6, 2025 
meeting, and Mr. Miller seconded the motion. The minutes passed unanimously. 

3. Swearing in of applicants

Mr. Thornburg swore in the applicants.

4. Special Exceptions

A. 7 Commons Court

Zoning Administrator Simms said, “The applicant is requesting a special exception to allow the 
establishment of a charcuterie catering business at their home. They have indicated that the home 
will be used for office work only, that there will be no business-related traffic coming to the 
residence, there will be no evidence of a business outside the house, and that there will be no 
employees working in the residence other than family members that live in the home.” 

The applicant said food preparation is done at a kitchen in Mt. Pleasant. There will be no foot 
traffic or deliveries made from the  home. There will have no signage on the home or car to 
indicate the presence of a business. 

MOTION: Ms. Wheeler made a motion to approve, and Ms. Gower seconded the 
motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

B. 24 22nd Avenue

Zoning Administrator Simms said, “The applicant is requesting a special exception to allow the 
establishment of a shuttle service business at their home. They have indicated that the home will 
be used for office work only, that there will be no business-related traffic coming to the 
residence, there will be no evidence of a business outside the house, and that there will be no 

79



Board of Zoning Appeals, 6/3/2025 

2 

employees working in the residence other than family members that live in the home. The 
applicant has indicated two carts will be stored and maintained in the rear of the property.” 

The applicants explained they will be using two LSVs to transport people around the island. The 
vehicles will be stored in canvas covers at the rear of the property. The only signage is 
detachable and will be on the top of the vehicles when in use. 

Mr. Simms noted that the City does not allow for storage of home business-related items on the 
property unless it is under the roof of the main house. The applicant indicated that the home is on 
a slab and the garage does not fit the LSVs. He did state that the neighbors are aware and 
supportive of the business.  

MOTION: Ms. Gower made a motion to defer the application until the next meeting so 
that the applicants can secure an approved location to store the vehicles when not in use. 
Mr. Miller seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

5. Adjournment

Ms. Wheeler made a motion to adjourn, and Ms. Gower seconded the motion. The meeting was 
adjourned at approximately 4:32pm. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Nicole DeNeane 
City Clerk 

80



1 

Planning Commission Meeting 
4:00pm, Wednesday, June 11, 2025 

1207 Palm Boulevard, Isle of Palms, SC and 
broadcasted live on YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/user/cityofisleofpalms 

MINUTES 

1. Call to Order

Present: Sandy Stone, Rich Steinert, Sue Nagelski, Tim Ahmuty, Ron Denton, 
Jeffrey Rubin  

Absent:  David Cohen 

Staff present: Administrator Kerr 

2. Approval of minutes

MOTION: Ms. Nagelski made a motion to approve the minutes of the May 14, 2025 
meeting. Mr. Stone seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

3. New Business

Review of Recommendations Matrix

Administrator Kerr pointed out that some of the recommendations on this matrix are from the 
Comprehensive Plan. He said that several of the recommendations assigned to the Planning 
Commission are already part of the ongoing work that is assigned to them.  

The Commissioners reviewed the matrix recommendations that are not part of the 
Comprehensive Plan and had brief discussions about the status of each recommendation. 
Administrator Kerr will update the status of those recommendations that were discussed. 

At their July meeting, the Commissioners will discuss those recommendations from the 
Comprehensive Plan and the comments from City Council about the Plan. 

He also asked Commissioners to review the Transportation section of the Comprehensive Plan. 
He shared that he spoke with Stantech about the traffic gridlock on Memorial Day weekend. 
Stantech believes the IOP Connector is as efficient as a roadway can be. Part of the traffic issue 
is that there are 1700 parking spaces available and, on that weekend, there were 1500 cars/hour 
coming across the Connector. Additional traffic management may not have helped the gridlock. 

4. Old Business

81



Planning Commission, 6/11/2025 

5. Miscellaneous

The next meeting of the Planning Commission will be Wednesday, July 9, 2025 at 4:00pm.

6. Adjournment

Mr. Stone made a motion to adjourn, and Mr. Steinert seconded the motion. The meeting was 
adjourned at approximately 5:15pm. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Nicole DeNeane 
City Clerk 

82



ENVIRONMENTAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
4:00pm, Thursday, June 12, 2025 

1207 Palm Boulevard, Isle of Palms, SC  
and broadcasted live on YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/user/cityofisleofpalms 

MINUTES 

1. Call to order

Present: Laura Lovins, Mary Pringle, Eric Cicora, Cindy Marrs (via Zoom), Sean 
Popson, Todd Murphy 

Absent: Dane Buckout, Lucia Spiotta 

Staff Present: Administrator Kerr, Asst. Director Asero, Council Member Miars (via 
Zoom) 

2. Citizen’s Comments

Mr. Jimmy Carroll shared a handout with the Committee which is attached to these minutes. He 
explained the genesis of Plant-A-Palm 2.0. He is asking for the Committee’s blessing on the 
project. They are asking the City for ongoing maintenance and irrigation of the trees. They hope 
to have them planted in the fall. 

Mr. Hugh Swingle of the Family Vacation Rental Group said he is excited about the project, and 
his group has donated 10 trees to the project. 

Mr. Benjamin Farmery, Front Beach business owner, also spoke in favor of the project and has 
committed 22 trees to the project. 

3. Approval of previous meeting’s minutes

Ms. Popson noted a spelling error on page 2, section E.

MOTION: Ms. Pringle made a motion to approve the minutes of the May 15, 2025 
meeting as amended, and Mr. Murphy seconded the motion. The motion passed 
unanimously. 

MOTION: Ms. Pringle made a motion to reorder the agenda to allow for discussion 
about the Plant-A-Palm project first. Mr. Murphy seconded the motion. The motion passed 
unanimously. 

4. Presentations – none

83



Environmental Advisory Committee, 6/12/2025 

2 

5. Old Business

A. Plant-A-Palm 2.0

Administrator Kerr said the City will not be financially supporting this project other than to 
irrigate and maintain the trees. Money for that will come from the City’s Tree Fund. He added 
that the Public Services & Facilities Committee and City Council will need to work through the 
land use of the lot since Public Works often uses it as a location to hold debris before it is hauled 
off the island. 

Mr. Murphy suggested adding other native plants to the parking lot. Administrator Kerr will 
speak with the landscape designer about that. 

MOTION: Mr. Murphy made a motion to recommend the Plant-A-Palm 2.0 plan to City 
Council. Ms. Lovins seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

B. Lighting ordinance presentation – Todd Murphy

Mr. Murphy shared the latest draft of the proposed lighting ordinance as well as what he may say 
to City Council when it is presented to them for First Reading. 

Discussion ensued about clarifying that the ordinance is focused on residential lighting. Council 
Member Miars will work with Mr. Murphy to provide the necessary clarity. Administrator Kerr 
will send the original and redline versions of the ordinance to the Committee. 

C. Interpretive Sign Project

Ms. Lovins thanked everyone for attending the June 1 meeting on the public dock regarding the 
interpretive sign project. She and Ms. Smith will meet with representatives from Islander 71 and 
the Marina on June 23 to discuss possible sponsorship of the signs. 

D. Water Quality Testing

MOTION: Ms. Popson made a motion to defer this discussion until the next meeting. 
Mr. Cicora seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

E. Recommendations Matrix

Mr. Cicora referenced the reduced matrix he, Ms. Marrs, and Ms. Popson compiled. It is attached 
to these minutes.  

After a brief discussion about the first few recommendations, Council Member Miars said the 
recommendation about reviewing to-go packaging will be on the next Public Services & 
Facilities Committee agenda.  

Administrator Kerr will add a status column to the matrix and update it as discussed. Mr. Cicora 
suggested the Committee review a few of them each month. Administrator Kerr will send the full 
recommendations to the Committee as the text of some were cut off. City Clerk DeNeane will 
send the link to the Community Enrichment Plan to the Committee members. 

84



Environmental Advisory Committee, 6/12/2025 

3 

6. New Business

7. Miscellaneous Business

The next meeting of the Environmental Advisory Committee is scheduled for Thursday, July 10, 
2025 at 4pm. 

8. Adjournment

Ms. Popson made a motion to adjourn, and Mr. Cicora seconded the motion. The meeting was 
adjourned at 5:27pm. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Nicole DeNeane  
City Clerk 

85



86



87



88



Ordinance for Second Reading – June 24, 2025 

ORDINANCE 2025-05 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND TITLE 7, LICENSING AND REGULATION, CHAPTER 1 
BUSINESS LICENSES, ARTICLE A GENERAL PROVISIONS, SECTION 7-1-15(F). 
SUSPENSION OR REVOCATION OF LICENSE OF THE CITY OF ISLE OF PALMS 
CODE OF ORDINANCES TO CHANGE THE PERIOD TO AMASS FIVE FOUNDED 

COMPLAINTS BEFORE A REVOCATION HEARING AND STIPULATE THAT TWO 
GARBAGE ROLL OUT COMPLAINTS ARE TO BE COUNTED AS ONE FOR 

PURPOSES OF LICENSE REVOCATION. 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Councilmembers of the City of Isle of Palms, 
South Carolina, in City Council Assembled: 

SECTION 1. That Section 7-1-15. Suspension or renovation of license. Subsection (F) 
is hereby amended to specifically read as follows: 

F. A licensee has had five (5) or more complaints of unlawful activity within a
rolling 365-day period that are determined to be founded by the Police Department;
provided that two (2) founded complaints of Section 3-2-8. Garbage roll-out carts and
county recycling containers shall not be kept upon street or road right-of-way shall be
counted as one (1) founded complaint for purposes of this subsection.

SECTION 2. Should any part of this Ordinance be held invalid by a Court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remaining parts shall be severable therefrom and shall continue to be in full 
force and effect. 

SECTION 3. That all ordinances or parts of ordinances conflicting with the provisions 
of this Ordinance are hereby repealed insofar as the same affect this Ordinance. 

SECTION 4. That this Ordinance take effect immediately upon approval by City Council. 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE ISLE OF PALMS ON THE 
______ DAY OF ___________________, 2025.  

_____________________________________ 
Phillip Pounds, Mayor 

(Seal) 
Attest: _________________________________ 
Nicole DeNeane, City Clerk 

89



   Created: 2025‐05‐02 09:16:44 [EST]

(Supp. No. 26) 

Page 1 of 1 

Sec. 7-1-15. Suspension or revocation of license. 

When the license official determines: 

A. A license has been mistakenly or improperly issued or issued contrary to law;

B. A licensee has breached any condition upon which the license was issued or has failed to comply with
the provisions of this article;

C. A licensee has obtained a license through a fraud, misrepresentation, a false or misleading statement,
or evasion or suppression of a material fact in the license application;

D. A licensee has been convicted within the previous ten (10) years of an offense under a law or ordinance
regulating business, a crime involving dishonest conduct or moral turpitude related to a business or a
subject of a business, or an unlawful sale of merchandise or prohibited goods;

E. A licensee has engaged in or allowed an unlawful activity or nuisance related to the business, or the
licensee has demonstrated an inability or unwillingness to prevent the licensee's tenants from
engaging in unlawful activities or creating nuisances related to the business;

F. A licensee has had five (5) or more complaints of unlawful activity within a rolling 365-day period single
calendar year that are determined to be founded by the Police Department; provided that two (2)
founded complaints of Section 3-2-8. Garbage roll-out carts and county recycling containers shall not
be kept upon street or road right-of-way shall be counted as one (1) founded complaint for purposes of
this subsection.

G. A licensee is delinquent in the payment to the City of any tax or fee;

the license official may give written notice to the licensee or the person in control of the business within the
City by personal service or mail that the license is suspended pending a single hearing before Council or its 
designee for the purpose of determining whether the suspension should be upheld and the license should be 
revoked.  

The written notice of suspension and proposed revocation shall state the time and place at which the 
hearing is to be held, which shall be at a regular or special Council meeting within ten (10) days from the date of 
service of the notice, unless continued by agreement, and shall contain a brief statement of the reasons for the 
suspension and proposed revocation and a copy of the applicable provisions of this article.  

(Ord. No. 2021-14, § 1, 11-17-2021) 

90



Ordinance for Second Reading – June 24, 2025 

ORDINANCE 2025-06 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND TITLE 5, PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT, 
CHAPTER 4 ZONING, ARTICLE 2, SECTION 5-4-51(3) P2 PRESERVATION 

OVERLAY ZONE ADDITIONAL REGULATIONS OF THE CITY OF ISLE OF PALMS 
CODE OF ORDINANCES TO PROHIBIT POOLS SEAWARD OF THE MAXIMUM 

BUILDING LINE AND RENAME OCRM TO BCM. 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Councilmembers of the City of Isle of Palms, 
South Carolina, in City Council Assembled: 

SECTION 1. That Section 5-4-51(3) of the Isle of Palms Code of Ordinances titled “P2 
preservation overlay zone.” is hereby amended to specifically read as follows: 

Sec. 5-4-51. P-2 preservation overlay zone. 

(1) Purposes. The purposes of the P-2 preservation overlay zone are:

a. To preserve natural barriers against the natural forces from the Ocean.

b. To preserve adequate light, air and open space.

c. To protect and preserve scenic, historic and ecologically sensitive areas.

(2) Permitted uses.

a. This is an overlay zone. Permitted uses are determined by the underlying or
primary zoning district applicable to each lot located within the P-2 preservation overlay
zone.

b. Beach renourishment.

(3) Additional regulations. Within the P-2 preservation overlay zone, the following
additional regulations shall apply:

a. Except as expressly allowed in subsection (3)b and c of this section, no structure
shall extend seaward of the maximum building line shown and labeled as such on that
certain plat prepared by E.M. Seabrook, Jr., C.E. and L.S., dated January 8, 1988, and
entitled "FINAL PLAT, CITY OF ISLE OF PALMS, CHARLESTON COUNTY, S.C."
and duly recorded at the County RMC Office on February 16, 1988, in Plat Book BQ, at
Page 11; said plat is incorporated herein and made a part hereof by reference thereto.

b. One dune walkover per lot shall be allowed, so long as it complies with all
applicable provisions of this Code and BCM (Bureau of Coastal Management)
regulations.

91



Ordinance for First Reading – June 24, 2025 

SECTION 2. Should any part of this Ordinance be held invalid by a Court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remaining parts shall be severable therefrom and shall continue to be in full 
force and effect. 

SECTION 3. That all ordinances or parts of ordinances conflicting with the provisions 
of this Ordinance are hereby repealed insofar as the same affect this Ordinance. 

SECTION 4. That this Ordinance take effect immediately upon approval by City Council. 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE ISLE OF PALMS ON THE 
______ DAY OF ___________________, 2025.  

_____________________________________ 
Phillip Pounds, Mayor 

(Seal) 
Attest: _________________________________ 
Nicole DeNeane, City Clerk 

92



   Created: 2025‐05‐02 09:16:41 [EST]

(Supp. No. 26) 

Page 1 of 1 

Sec. 5-4-51. P-2 preservation overlay zone. 

(1) Purposes. The purposes of the P-2 preservation overlay zone are:

a. To preserve natural barriers against the natural forces from the Ocean.

b. To preserve adequate light, air and open space.

c. To protect and preserve scenic, historic and ecologically sensitive areas.

(2) Permitted uses.

a. This is an overlay zone. Permitted uses are determined by the underlying or primary zoning district
applicable to each lot located within the P-2 preservation overlay zone.

b. Beach renourishment.

(3) Additional regulations. Within the P-2 preservation overlay zone, the following additional regulations shall
apply:

a. Except as expressly allowed in subsection (3)b and c of this section, no structure shall extend seaward
of the maximum building line shown and labeled as such on that certain plat prepared by E.M.
Seabrook, Jr., C.E. and L.S., dated January 8, 1988, and entitled "FINAL PLAT, CITY OF ISLE OF PALMS,
CHARLESTON COUNTY, S.C." and duly recorded at the County RMC Office on February 16, 1988, in Plat
Book BQ, at Page 11; said plat is incorporated herein and made a part hereof by reference thereto.

b. One dune walkover per lot shall be allowed, so long as it complies with all applicable provisions of this
Code and OCRM BCM regulations.

c. One swimming pool per lot shall be allowed, so long as it complies with the applicable provisions of this
Code and OCRM regulations.

(Ord. No. 2015-15, § 1, 2-23-2016) 

93



Resolution No.: R-2025-03 

A Resolution to Increase Fees Associated with Development Permits and Services 

WHEREAS, the City of Isle of Palms recognizes the need to manage construction and 
development effectively to accommodate residents, visitors, and businesses and the city incurs 
expenses associated with this management; and 

WHEREAS, the current rates for municipal permits and fees have not been adjusted for some 
time, necessitating an update to ensure the effective management of development in the 
community; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed rate adjustments will help maintain the quality and availability of city 
services; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Isle of Palms, South 
Carolina, that the following permit rates are approved for implementation starting immediately. 

Section 1: The rates for the Building Permit fees will be $60 plus an additional $6 per thousand 
dollars or faction thereof of construction value. 

Section 2: For any projects that require the review of plans, the Plan Submittal and Review fee is 
one-half of the Building Permit fee and is in addition to the Building Permit fee. 

Section 3: The rates for Electrical Permit fees will be $50 plus $0.50 per 1 amp of new or 
replaced electrical service. 

Section 4: The rates for Plumbing and Gas Permit fees will be $50 plus $10 per new or replaced 
plumbing fixture. 

Section 5: The rates for Mechanical Permit fees will be $50 plus 0.3% of the total value of work 
permitted. 

Section 6: The rates for Zoning Permit fees will be:  

$25 for projects requiring a building permit with construction value of $0-$50,000; 

$50 for projects requiring a building permit with construction value of $50,001-$100,000; 

$100 for projects requiring a building permit with construction value greater than $100,000. 

94



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council directs the appropriate city staff to 
implement these changes and ensure that all stakeholders are informed of the new rates and 
permits effective immediately. 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF ISLE OF 
PALMS, SOUTH CAROLINA ON THE _____ DAY OF ___________ 2025.  

___________________________ 
Phillip Pounds, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

___________________________ 
Nicole DeNeane, City Clerk 

95



ISLE OF PALMS - EXISTING ISLE OF PALMS - PROPOSED SULLIVAN'S ISLAND KIAWAH ISLAND FOLLY BEACH MOUNT PLEASANT CHARLESTON COUNTY SUMMERVILLE CITY OF CHARLESTON HANAHAN

BUILDING PERMIT Plan review Fee $1,275.00 $1,530.00 $1,944.63 $1,477.50 $1,222.50 $842.00 $924.75 $870.00 $850.00 $845.00

 Based on 1,500 sq ft addition 
valued at $500,000 Permit amount $2,600.00 $3,160.00 $3,889.25 $2,955.00 $2,445.00 $1,684.00 $1,849.50 $1,740.00 $1,700.00 $1,690.00

Business License Base 
fee (only charged 1x 

per year, not per 
permit) $220.00 $260.00 $240.00 $140.00 $100.00 $100.00 $110.00 $80.00 $80.00 $70.00

Business license 
update fee $2,350.00 $2,700.00 $4,500.00 $2,400.00 $1,500.00 $2,110.00 $1,550.00 $1,900.00 $1,650.00 $700.00

TOTAL BUILDING FEES $6,445.00 $7,650.00 $10,573.88 $6,972.50 $5,267.50 $4,736.00 $4,434.25 $4,590.00 $4,280.00 $3,305.00

ELECTRICAL Permit amount $50.00 $250.00 $111.75 $140.00 $100.00 $86.00 $122.00 $130.00 $140.00 $110.00

Based on electrical valuation of 
$20,000 and 400 amps

Business License Base 
fee (only charged 1x 

per year, not per 
permit) $220.00 $260.00 $240.00 $140.00 $100.00 $100.00 $110.00 $80.00 $80.00 $70.00

Business license 
update fee $94.00 $108.00 $180.00 $96.00 $60.00 $84.40 $62.00 $76.00 $66.00 $28.00

TOTAL ELECTRICAL FEES $364.00 $618.00 $531.75 $376.00 $260.00 $270.40 $294.00 $286.00 $286.00 $208.00

PLUMBING Permit amount $35.00 $150.00 $164.35 $105.00 $45.00 $76.00 $102.00 $65.00 $75.00 $55.00

Based on plumbing valuation of 
$15,000 with 10 fixtures

Business License Base 
fee (only charged 1x 

per year, not per 
permit) $220.00 $260.00 $240.00 $140.00 $100.00 $100.00 $110.00 $80.00 $80.00 $70.00

Business license 
update fee $70.50 $81.00 $135.00 $72.00 $45.00 $63.30 $46.50 $57.00 $49.50 $21.00

TOTAL PLUMBING FEES $325.50 $491.00 $539.35 $317.00 $190.00 $239.30 $258.50 $202.00 $204.50 $146.00

GAS Permit amount $25.00 $110.00 $105.75 $68.50 $21.00 $66.00 $82.00 $34.00 $54.00 $37.00

Based on gas valuation of $10,000 
with 6 outlets

Business License Base 
fee (only charged 1x 

per year, not per 
permit) $220.00 $260.00 $240.00 $140.00 $100.00 $100.00 $110.00 $80.00 $80.00 $70.00

Business license 
update fee $47.00 $54.00 $90.00 $48.00 $30.00 $42.20 $31.00 $38.00 $33.00 $14.00

TOTAL GAS FEES $292.00 $424.00 $435.75 $256.50 $151.00 $208.20 $223.00 $152.00 $167.00 $121.00

MECHANICAL Permit amount $88.00 $125.00 $259.75 $158.50 $230.00 $96.00 $142.00 $98.00 $250.00 $50.00

Based on mechanical valuation of 
$25,000

Business License Base 
fee (only charged 1x 

per year, not per 
permit) $220.00 $260.00 $240.00 $140.00 $100.00 $100.00 $110.00 $80.00 $80.00 $70.00

Business license 
update fee $117.50 $135.00 $225.00 $120.00 $75.00 $105.50 $77.50 $95.00 $82.50 $35.00

TOTAL MECHANICAL FEES $425.50 $520.00 $724.75 $418.50 $405.00 $301.50 $329.50 $273.00 $412.50 $155.00
Total fees if all need base rate 
license (all new to the 
minicipality) $7,852.00 $9,703.00 $12,805.48 $8,340.50 $6,273.50 $5,755.40 $5,539.25 $5,503.00 $5,350.00 $3,935.00
Total fees if all already had base 
rate license (exisiting to 
municipality) $6,752.00 $8,403.00 $11,605.48 $7,640.50 $5,773.50 $5,255.40 $4,989.25 $5,103.00 $4,950.00 $3,585.00

***ALL license fees are based on NON-RESIDENT prices AND that they are NEW to the island so they are paying the base rate

96


	ord 2025-06
	city council minutes



